IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

MAR 17 1987

ANTHONY B. BRYAN,
Appellant,

CLERK
By *Janya*
Deputy Clerk

-v-

CASE NO. 68,803

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

TED A. STOKES

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

Post Office Box 84
Milton, Florida 32572
(904) 623-3260

(served 1 day late)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Appellant was taken into custody in Madison, Florida, on the 26th day of August, 1983 and subsequently indicted by a Grand Jury in Santa Rosa County, Florida, for First Degree Murder, Kidnapping and Armed Robbery (T-2).

Prior to being returned to Santa Rosa County for trial, he was tried in Federal Court in Mobile County, Alabama, for robbery of a bank in Grand Bay, Alabama and found guilty by a jury after using an insanity defense.

After that trial, he was transported to Santa Rosa County and subsequently escaped from the Santa Rosa County Jail on or about the 26th day of June, 1984 and was reapprehended in Colorado on the 15th day of October, 1985.

Appellant was then brought to trial after the denial of Motions to Suppress and rulings upon several motions before the Honorable George E. Lowrey, Circuit Judge, on the 11th day of February, 1986. After several days of trial and testimony, a mistrial was declared because of improper comments of the State's primary witness, Sharon Cooper, concerning collateral crimes evidence; the theft of a Sting-Ray Boat (See Appendix "A").

Pursuant to a Motion for Change of Venue and a Stipulation between the State and the Defense, the case was

transferred for re-trial in Walton County, Florida, before the Honorable Clyde B. Wells.

Prior to the trial of the cause on the 31st day of March, 1986, Judge Wells heard motions in Chambers including Appellant's Motion in Limine to exclude Williams Rule or collateral crime evidence (T-126-151). The Court also denied a Motion to Continue and a Motion to Sequester the Jury during that pre-trial session. The Court adopted Judge Lowrey's prior ruling on a Motion to Suppress (T-147) and certified that for appellate review (T-148). The Defense requested an evidentiary hearing on its Motion in Limine concerning the Williams Rule evidence and the Court denied the same (T-149).

During the guilt phase of the trial, the Court allowed into evidence the sawed-off shotgun sought to be suppressed; pictures of the victim's body in a decomposed state, over Appellant's objections; and further allowed testimony of Sharon Cooper concerning a taped telephone conversation with Appellant contrary to Appellant's objection and without a Richardson hearing to determine the admissibility thereof.

The Court further refused to admit the testimony of a psychologist, Dr. Gentner, to explain Appellant's memory problems and denied the Appellant's Motion for Judgment of Acquittal.

The Trial Court also denied Appellant's Motion for Mistrial (T-806) based upon evidence of other crimes becoming a feature of the trial; the Prosecutor commenting upon the Defendant exercising his right to remain silent and the Prosecutor's comment upon the Appellant's failure to produce a witness.

In the penalty phase, the Court allowed the State to present the live rebuttal evidence of a Psychiatrist, Dr. Benjamin Ogburn although his deposition had been previously admitted because of his unavailability and further allowed Appellant's witness, Jean Hanley, to be threatened by the prosecutor with arrest by the F.B.I., causing her to invoke her fifth amendment right against self incrimination and to abbreviate her testimony in support of the Appellant.

The Appellant was subsequently found guilty upon a jury verdict of (1) First Degree Murder by Premeditation; (2) Kidnapping; and (3) Robbery with a Firearm (T-101). The jury by a seven to five vote advised for a death sentence (T-102). The Court entered an Order entitled Finding of the Court on Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances and Sentence (T-107), adjudging Appellant guilty of murder in the first degree and sentencing him to death in the electric chair (T-111).

The Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal (T-116) invoking the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court.

The facts presented at trial would indicate that Appellant met State witness, Sharon Cooper, in Jacksonville, Florida and she traveled with him to Mississippi to work as a prostitute. After pursuing that profession and obtaining Appellant's truck, the couple went to Pensacola and Gulf Breeze, Florida, whereupon they embarked to Pascagoula, Mississippi, on a Sea-Ray boat whereupon they stayed for several days at a municipal dock near Clark's Seafood where the alleged victim, George Wilson, was employed as a security guard. George Wilson lived in a travel trailer on those premises and left Pascagoula in the company of Appellant and Sharon Cooper, seated in the back seat of his automobile, with Appellant and Sharon Cooper in the front seat. Appellant was driving and Sharon Cooper was in the passenger seat. The parties stopped for gas and stopped in Grand Bay, Alabama, at the Blue Bayou Bar for beer and drinks before proceeding to Crestview, Florida, where they spent the night in a Scottish Inn Motel. The victim was found in Juniper Creek in Santa Rosa County some weeks later in a decomposed state. Sharon Cooper testified that the Appellant went down a path with the victim and she followed. She further testified that Appellant hit the victim with the butt of a sawed-off shotgun and that

she immediately turned and ran. After hearing a splash of the water, she heard a gunshot. The pathologist, Dr. Bell, testified that the blow to the head prior to the gunshot probably rendered the victim unconscious. Sharon Cooper further testified that she did not think Appellant would kill the victim and so advised the victim.

Appellant and Sharon Cooper proceeded to a point in Santa Rosa County known as Turkey Bluff where Appellant drove the victim's vehicle into the East River where it was subsequently recovered.

Appellant and Sharon Cooper then hitch-hiked to Louisiana and returned in an allegedly stolen car to Madison, Florida, where they were arrested. The sawed-off shotgun was seized and that is the subject matter of the suppression hearing and subsequent testimony of Officer Craddock and Special Agent Shelfner of the F.B.I.

Appellant was thereafter contacted by Sharon Cooper who was in the custody of the Santa Rosa County Sheriff's Department and telephonically and by letter communicated with her. Despite Appellant's demands upon the State to disclose the substance and/or tapes of such communications, the Appellant was never provided therewith and Sharon Cooper was allowed to testify about the substance thereof at trial.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are three major issues that require reversal and remand for a new trial.

Reversible error was committed by allowing evidence of crimes not charged in violation of the Williams Rule and Section 404 of the evidence code. The Court allowed evidence of a bank robbery, theft of a boat, details of an escape and cross-examination about prior marijuana dealings to become a feature of the trial.

The Trial Court further erred by failing to conduct an adequate Richardson hearing and allowing impeachment and rebuttal evidence about the subject matter of a recorded telephone call made by State witness Sharon Cooper to Appellant where Appellant had specifically requested the information which was not furnished in discovery.

The Court further mistakenly determined that four aggravating circumstances existed in support of imposition of the death penalty and found only two mitigating circumstances. The Court should have found five statutory mitigating circumstances together with some non-statutory mitigating circumstances and no more than two aggravating circumstances. That mistaken finding and computation mandates a reversal of death penalty sentence and remand for a new penalty phase trial and re-sentence.

ARGUMENT

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE
APPELLANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE AND ADMITTING
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR AND COLLATERAL CRIMES AS
EVIDENCE?

Prior to the first trial in Santa Rosa County, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Rely Upon Prior Crimes and the Court originally held that no such collateral evidence was admissible in the guilt phase (T-89) and confirmed the affirmation of the State that it did not intend to offer such evidence.

At the trial before the Honorable Judge George E. Lowrey, the Court, upon hearing testimony and the argument of counsel, allowed testimony concerning the bank robbery, but disallowed testimony concerning any other collateral crimes and when State witness, Sharon Cooper, testified about the theft of a Sting-Ray boat, Judge Lowrey declared a mistrial.

Thereafter, upon Stipulation and Appellant's Motion to Disqualify the trial judge, the matter was transferred to Walton County to be tried by Judge Wells.

At a pre-trial hearing, Judge Wells decided that he would admit testimony about the theft of a Sea-Ray boat; the very testimony upon which Judge Lowrey declared a mistrial; and at trial, admitted evidence concerning Appellant's escape from

the Santa Rosa County Jail, in detail, together with testimony of the Appellant's prior dealings in marijuana over Appellant's objections.

The bank robbery and other collateral crimes evidenced was allowed to become a "feature of the trial" contrary to the teaching of Cotita -v- State, 381 So.2d 1146 (Fla. 1 DCA 1980). The State presented the testimony of three F.B.I. agents Donald McVay (T-460), Canton Gantt (T-453), and Daniel Lee (T-464) together with the manager of the bank, Kirk Beanblossom (T-456) exclusively about the bank robbery and the Court admitted pictures of the Defendant robbing the bank over Appellant's objection (T-458). State witness, Mark Hart, testified about the bank robbery (T-500) and Sharon Cooper was allowed to testify about the bank robbery and the theft of a Sting-Ray boat.

The State's entire closing argument (T-743) was laced with references to collateral crimes and capped off by referring to Appellant as a bank robber and boat thief (T-800). Appellant objected to those remarks and moved for a mistrial (T-806). The Court acknowledged that the bank robbery had become a feature of the trial (T-810), but denied the Motion for Mistrial.

Over the Appellant's continuing objection (T-413), the State was allowed to cross-examine Appellant about robbing the

bank (T-633), stealing a boat (T-660), and despite Appellant's objections and motion to strike (T-682-683), about details of his escape from the Santa Rosa County Jail (T-683). The State also asked Appellant about dealing in marijuana (T-674).

To examine this issue, it is necessary to begin with Williams -v- State, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla.) and the codification of the Williams Rule in the evidence code, Florida Statute 90.404 which provides:

Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

In the Williams case, Justice Thornal stated that:

Although similar fact evidence is generally admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue an exception to the broader rule of admissibility exists when the sole relevancy is character or propensity of the accused.

The Third District Court of Appeal in Vazquez -v- State, 405 So.2d 177 (Fla. 3 DCA, 1981) correctly characterized the prejudice to the Defendant in the following excerpts:

The theory behind this line of cases is that such evidence, with rare exceptions, is so overwhelmingly prejudicial to a

defendant that the presumption of innocence is thereafter destroyed and a fair trial rendered impossible, and

The danger of a miscarriage of justice lies in the real possibility that, in spite of correct instructions, the prior conviction, irrelevant to the present count, will negate any reasonable doubt of defendant's guilt..., that he will be convicted 'on principle'.

That same Court in Roman -v- State, 438 So.2d 487 (Fla. App. 3 Dist. 1983), recognized testimony about the defendant's involvement in a robbery for which he was not charged as requiring a reversal.

Likewise, the Third District in Harris -v- State, 427 So.2d 234, held that testimony that the defendant had a "prior felony past" was "utterly inadmissible in evidence as its sole relevance was to attack the defendant's character or to show the propensity of the defendant to commit crime".

Testimony of a state witness in Finklea -v- State, 471 So.2d 596 (Fla. App. 1 Dist. 1985), about the Defendant's participation in a robbery required reversal of that conviction.

Evidence of the Defendant's trying to get into the victim's pocket on a prior occasion caused a reversal of a petit theft conviction in Brown -v- State, 472 So.2d 475 (Fla. 2 Dist. 1985).

Recently, in Garrette -v- State, 12 FLW 470 (Fla. 1 Dist. 1987), the First District reversed convictions for sale and possession of marijuana because of testimony that the Defendant had twice previously been in possession of marijuana. That Court quoted liberally from this Court's opinion in Peek -v- State, 488 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1986), to-wit:

A mere similarity will not render the similar facts legally relevant to show identity. There must be identifiable points of similarity which pervade the compared factual situations. Given sufficient similarity, in order for the similar facts to be relevant, the points of similarity must have some special character or be so unusual as to point to the defendant, and

Our justice system requires that in every criminal case, the elements of the offense must be established beyond a reasonable doubt without resorting to the character of the defendant or to the fact that the defendant may have a propensity to commit the particular type of offense.

The landmark Peek case reversed a first degree murder and sexual battery conviction because of evidence of a subsequent rape. The Court quoted from State -v- Jackson, 451 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1985).

There is no doubt that this admission [to prior unrelated crimes] would go far to convince men or ordinary intelligence that the defendant was probably guilty of the crime charged. But, the criminal law departs from the standard of the ordinary in that it requires proof of a particular

crime where evidence has no relevancy except as to the character and propensity of the defendant to commit the crime charged, it must be excluded.

State -v- Bricker, 462 So.2d 556 (Fla. 3 Dist. 1985)

set out the "fingerprint type characteristic test" and cited language from Green -v- State, 427 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 3d DCA, 1983) for the proposition that:

The similar crimes test is a stringent one: there must be something so unique or particularly unusual about the perpetrator or his modus operandi that it would tend to establish, independently of an identification of him by the collateral crime victim, that he committed the crime charged.

The Bricker Court further cited the holdings in Crammer -v- State, 391 So.2d 803 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) that:

Although collateral crime evidence is admissible to show a common plan, scheme, or pattern of criminality, it is merely similar to the crime for which the defendant is on trial.

McKinney -v- State, 462 So.2d 46 (Fla. 1 Dist. 1984), is a case where the State introduced similar fact evidence of an incident at Robert's Food Store, located approximately six miles from the site of the robbery for which the defendants were on trial. A man in McKinney's car had a shotgun similar to the shotgun used in the robbery. Although affirming on the basis of harmless error, the Court said regarding the similarity of the shotgun:

We find this sufficient to connect Clifford [McKinney] to the incident so as to render it admissbile against him, assuming its relevance to the crime charged. However, the incident does not appear to us to have any bearing on the subsequent robbery. We cannot agree, therefore, that the incident demonstrates "identity, opportunity, intent, preparation or plan" in relation to the robbery charged, and it was error to admit it for that purpose.

In the instant case, the Appellant was convicted of robbing a bank in Grand Bay, Alabama, several months prior to the alleged murder. In the bank robbery, he carried a shotgun similar to the alleged murder weapon, but wore a stocking over his head and had no accomplice. No one was killed or injured.

The charges for which Appellant was convicted herein arose from an incident in Pascagoula, Mississippi, at a Seafood Company far removed from the bank in Grand Bay, Alabama, where the Appellant in the company of Sharon Cooper allegedly abducted the victim, without a disguise, to Crestview, Florida and then killed him with a shotgun blast to the head.

The events are unrelated in time and place and as in the case of State -v- Joseph, 447 So.2d 246 (3 Dist. 1983), the

marked dissimilarities in the manner and method in which the crimes were perpetrated, as compared to similarities so general as to be found in a vast number of like crimes,

render the evidence of the collateral crimes irrelevant, and therefore inadmissible to establish the identity of the accused.

It should further be noted that identity is not an issue since the Appellant acknowledged his presence with the victim, but testified that the victim went with him and Sharon Cooper willingly to consummate a drug deal in Florida and that he awoke the next day to find the victim and Sharon Cooper gone from the motel room with his shotgun. He further testified that Sharon Cooper told him later that George Wilson had been killed at the scene of the drug deal.

It is therefore obvious that the evidence of the bank robbery was not relevant to prove a material fact in issue, either motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity or absence of mistake or accident, but was presented only to show bad character or propensity.

Evidence of the theft of a Sea-Ray boat falls far shorter of meeting the criteria for admissibility under the Williams Rule. The evidence elicited was that the Appellant swam out to a boat anchored in the bay near Gulf Breeze, Florida, hot-wired it, picked up Sharon Cooper at a nearby landing and took it to Pascagoula, Mississippi, where they tied up to a municipal pier near Clark's Seafood where the victim was employed as a security guard. The boat had been damaged when

it struck something in the river and was inoperable. Appellant and Sharon Cooper were merely living aboard it when they met George Wilson and borrowed tools to repair the outdrive.

There is no evidence nor can the State seriously contend that when Appellant took the boat in Gulf Breeze, that he had any plan to use that boat in kidnapping, robbing or killing George Wilson, nor any basis that it was taken in preparation for committing those crimes.

The only connection of the boat to the crime is that Appellant was living on it at the time, and as argued at trial, there is no relevance to the manner of acquisition thereof except to show bad character and a propensity to commit crime. Judge Lowrey declared a mistrial when Sharon Cooper testified about the theft of the boat at the first trial and Judge Wells may well have avoided a subsequent re-trial had he granted Appellant's Motion in Limine and excluded it from evidence herein.

The State further sought to impeach the Appellant's testimony by questioning him about his escape from the Santa Rosa County Jail, an event which occurred long after the murder, while awaiting trial thereon. At the time of the trial, Appellant had been charged with Escape, but was

awaiting trial and had not plead guilty nor been adjudicated guilty of Escape.

The issue of the admissibility of the escape first arose at trial when Appellant objected to questions leading to testimony about an outdrive stolen to repair the Sea-Ray boat. The State raised the issue of the escape (T-648) and Appellant objected to its admissibility and engaged in a colloquy with the Court wherein the Court concluded that when Appellant took the stand, he submitted himself to questioning about the escape (T-650).

After a lunch recess, Appellant presented the Court with authority from Florida Evidence, Charles W. Ehrhardt, Second Edition. Section 608.1 thereof provides that, "A criminal defendant who takes the stand and testifies may have his credibility attacked in the same manner as any other witness". According to Ehrhardt, the evidence code suggests six methods that may be used to impeach, including under Section 90.610 by showing that the witness was convicted of certain crimes.

Section 610.6 of Ehrhardt sets out the classic question and answer scenario whereby the witness may only be asked whether he has ever been convicted of a felony or a crime involving dishonesty or false statement. "If the witness answers the questions correctly, the questioning must cease; counsel can not go further and specify the nature of the crime

of which the witness was convicted or the sentence that was imposed."

The State sought to circumvent that rule by asking the Appellant about using a fake name in Arizona (T-681) and how he had an occasion to be there (T-682). In anticipating the State's intention to elicit testimony about the escape,

Appellant twice objected and was twice overruled. Another objection and motion to strike the answer was overruled (T-638). The State then sought to elicit details of the escape and the Court again, incredibly, over Appellant's objection, allowed the State to inquire further into the details (T-683).

Section 610.8 of Ehrhardt sets out the general rule that

"the credibility of a witness may not be attacked by proof that he has committed specific acts of misconduct which bear on his truthfulness. Under Section 90.610 only conduct which results in a criminal conviction is admissible to prove bad character.

Since the Court readily conceded (T-654) that evidence of the escape did not come under the Williams Rule, it must come in under Section 610 as impeachment and there is no basis for admissibility thereunder.

The entire precepts of the State's case is summed up in its' final argument, when the prosecutor sarcastically argued:

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