IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY B. BRYAN,

Appellant,

٧.

Case No. 68,803

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

State Vinite

MAY 81 1987

By Deputy Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROYALL P. TERRY, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
080597

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0290

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I - From the time that appellant committed a bank robbery in Grand Bay, Alabama in early 1983 until he was finally arrested at Madison, Florida the following summer, his life had been one continuing episode of flight and a need to acquire money and a means of transport in order to continue on the move and avoid arrest. The theft of the motorboat at Gulf Breeze, Florida, the armed robbery of Mr. Wilson, his ultimate murder victim, in Pascagoula, for the purpose of acquiring keys to Wilson's employer's business premises, the abduction of Wilson and theft at gunpoint of Wilson's car and his ultimate murder near Crestview, Florida were for puncuniary gain, witness elimination and avoidance of arrest for the bank robbery. All of the foregoing was one continuous episode and testimony pertaining thereto was necessary that the jury be properly informed as to all relevant circumstances. The probative value of the testimony complained of outweighed any prejudicial effect and the evidence against appellant as to the crimes actually charged was most compelling.

Issue II - There was no violation of discovery rules. The existence of the tapes in question was at all times material hereto known to trial defense counsel and he was invited on several occasions by the prosecutor to hear the tapes and inspect the prosecution's entire file. It is appellee's position that

trial defense counsel was lacking in diligence and that the tapes in question were at all times available to him for the asking.

Further, the tapes were not played during the state's case-inchief and the pertinent information was presented to the jury by the live testimony of one of the participants in the tape conversation. After appellant took the stand in his own defense and either denied or claimed a lapse of memory as to the contents of the tapes the tapes were properly admitted during rebuttal and played to the jury. Appellant has demonstrated no prejudice to the defense and even if there had been a degree of prejudice it is attributable to appellant's lack of deligence in accepting the tapes when they were offered to the defense before trial.

Issue III - The trial court did not err in imposing the death penalty nor was this a case of jury override. The jury's recommendation is entitled to great weight and the trial court could not have properly found that the jury's recommendation was either improperly supported or that no reasonable jury, based on the evidence, could have arrived at the recommended penalty.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE. (Restated)

Appellee concedes that if the state, during trial, had proceeded to dredge up various and sundry transgressions of appellant from his near and distant past solely for the purpose of showing bad character or propensity same might have constituted a basis for a finding of reversible error. But that did not happen in this case. What appellant complains of, inter alia, was testimony by a co-participant, Sharon Cooper, who accompanied appellant on his odyssey from Jacksonville, Florida where they met at a bar out to Mississippi where they picked up appellant's truck, back to Gulf Breeze, Florida where their peregrinations continued by cabin cruiser to Pascagoula, Mississippi near which the boat was damaged and it became necessary for them to tie up the boat and ponder their next move. It was at Pascagoula that appellant and Cooper befriended George Wilson, the murder victim who was abducted, bound and transported to the vicinity of Crestview, Florida in his own car and shot to death and dumped in a creek. The story picks up again in Louisiana where the pair allegedly purchased a white Pinto automobile which turned out to be stolen. On their way back through Florida they were arrested at Madison after the local police agency ran the tag number through the NCIC computer prior

to making the arrest. Although appellant's sawed-off shotgun was visible from the outside of the car it was seized during routine inventory of its contents by the Madison Police. The shotgun had not been reported stolen and was ultimately traced to appellant through fingerprint and federal firearms purchase records maintained by the gun dealer. At the time appellant met Sharon Cooper in a Jacksonville tavern he was a fugitive from a bank robbery committed some weeks before in Grand Bay, Alabama, a crime of which he was later convicted in federal court. He was later transferred to the Santa Rosa county jail from which he escaped prior to being brought to trial for murder, kidnapping and robbery with a firearm in the instant case. He remained at large for over a year and was ultimately retaken in Colorado and brought to trial in Santa Rosa County, this trial ending in a mistrial. Appellant was ultimately tried and convicted in Walton County as a result of a stipulated change of venue.

As the evidence showed, the Sea Ray cabin cruiser was acquired at Gulf Breeze, Florida by virtue of appellant's hotwiring the boat and unlawfully taking it, accompanied by Sharon Cooper, to Pascagoula where it was damaged beyond his ability to repair it. The boat belonged to an Auburn, Alabama man who had not given anyone permission to take the boat.

The taking of the boat, i.e., the manner in which the pair made their way to Pascagoula, the circumstances under which they

met George Wilson, the victim, are all part and parcel of the factual background of this dastardly crime. The jury was entitled to know and, indeed, the state was obligated to show, the full circumstances surrounding the movements of appellant and his companion that lead up to the robbery, the kidnapping and murder. It is part of the res gestae of the matter and not some obscure event of appellant's past that was resurrected solely to show bad character. That is all that the cases cited by appellant stand for and while they are good law, they are inapposite to the issue as it presents itself to this court. would have been impossible for the state to avoid some testimony concerning the movements of the pair and how they became initially involved with the victim George Wilson at Pascagoula without there being substantial gaps in the factual pattern and a resulting uninformed jury.

Appellant seems fond of presenting the sixty five-year-old deceased, George Wilson, as a "security guard" at Clark's Seafood Company in Pascagoula. The fact of the matter was that he was not a security guard on the model of the uniformed and armed Pinkerton guard but rather he was an aged, unarmed night watchman who lived in a little trailer inside the Clark's enclosure. The disabled stolen Sea Ray was docked nearby and appellant and Cooper became friendly with Wilson as with other persons employed in the vicinity and, at times, borrowed tools from them in an effort to repair the Sea Ray. Appellant's repair efforts were

unsuccessful and it became necessary for him to concern himself with finances and transportation.

It was not the meager treasure of the sixty five-year-old night watchman at the seafood plant that interested appellant but the possible contents of the seafood packing plant's offices that were the focus of his attention. The pair went to his trailer and appellant pointed his shotgun at Wilson and took from him the keys to the plant and offices as well as what money Wilson had. Apparently appellant's entry into the plant's offices yielded nothing of value. Wilson's hands had been bound and he was taken in his own automobile from Mississippi to Bayou La Batre, Alabama were the trio stopped at the Blue Bayou Bar where appellant was Whether the old man was in fear of his life or for what other reason he did not cry out was never developed during the trial but he apparently made no overt attempt to escape at that point. Then they proceeded to a motel at Crestview, Florida with the victim still being held with his hands bound. After a brief sojourne at the motel appellant, accompanied by Sharon Cooper, drove around near Crestview and in the vicinity of Munson on back roads until appellant came upon Juniper Creek where, in the presence of Sharon Cooper, marched the victim some yards from the car near the creek bank, struck him in the back of the head with a shotgun, possibly rendering him unconscious and then after the victim fell in the creek, shot him in the face with his twelve gauge shotgun. The body of Wilson and some of his personal

papers were found in the creek at different spots within the next few weeks. (T 401)

Although Cooper was arrested with appellant in possession of the stolen car at Madison, Florida, within a matter of days she was released within a relatively short period of time and appellant was being held to answer for the auto theft which was a crime not only in the state where the vehicle had been stolen but chargeable in federal court for interstate transportation of a stolen motor vehicle. It was during this point in time that Sharon Cooper went to the FBI in Jacksonville and told all. (T She knew that appellant had robbed a bank in Alabama, (T 422) that he had stolen the boat at Gulf Breeze, Florida that he had robbed George Wilson and transported him to Florida where he had hit him in the head with the shotgun and shot him after he fell in the creek. (T 419) The precise nature of his wounds were not apparent to Sharon Cooper but all of this came to light during the medical examiner's testimony. From this point on, the Santa Rosa County sheriff, the FBI agents and criminalists and FDLE ballistic experts began to close the ring on Tony Bryan.

Bryan wore a mask of some sort when he robbed the bank at Green Bay but he carried with him a shotgun sawed off at both ends and briefly took prisoner an elderly man at the bank before making his escape. (T 457) The sawed off portions of the shotgun were found in clothes closet at a residence once shared by Bryan

and his then wife. (T 462) The shotgun recovered from the stolen Pinto at Madison, Florida was processed and latent fingerprints of appellant were identified under the forestock on the metal surface that would not normally be exposed but would be exposed if the weapon was disassembled for cleaning. (T 478-479) A spent shotgun shell was recovered at the place where Sharon Cooper lead the officer to where she witnessed the shooting of George Wilson by appellant. This particular shotgun casing had been fired from the shotgun recovered in the car at Madison. An FDLE ballistics expert told the jury how he could match up the shotgun's firing pin with the primer on spent shell and markings on the brass portion of the spent shell with characteristics of the shotgun's breach, extractor and or other parts of the magnesium which would make the own "signature" on the brass portions of the shell. (T 471-472) The gun dealer who sold the shotgun to appellant identified appellant as the purchaser through records kept pursuant to federal firearms sales regulations. (T 494) evidence was overwhelming that appellant fired the fatal shot from the same gun that fired the shell that was found at the scene and which had been purchased by appellant at an earlier time.

Without some reference to the bank robbery and the boat theft the state's case would have been emasculated and it would have been utterly impossible for the trier of fact to perceive the "big picture" in order to arrive at a just result.

Although the state duly filed its notice of similar fact evidence, this was probably a perfunctory act done out of an abundance of caution. None of the evidence brought in was presented in any wise other than as the part of a running scenario of the defendant's activities preceding and close in point of time to the acts for which appellant had been arrested The bank robbery and the boat theft were not "collateral crimes" presented for the reasons that appellant suggests. They cannot be logically separated from the state's case-in-chief and certainly they had no special prejudicial effect as a bank robbery and a boat theft cannot prejudicially point to a propensity to commit murder, kidnapping etc. in and of themselves. If appellant had committed a bank robbery at some time in the dim past or had stolen a boat as a separate and destinct episode at some time remote it probably would have been error to present such evidence in the case at bar but that is not what happened. Neither a bank robbery nor a boat theft however inter-connected could constitute a feature of a trial that involved such strong evidence of a heartless calculated murder. Appellant is grasping for straws and once counsel had done his jack-in-the box act enough times he quietly settled down to taking full advantage of all of his opportunities to crossexamine every witness and attempt to develop even minute inconsistencies which he attempted to exploit, as was his proper function. Appellant himself needed for the whole picture to be

presented as all of the circumstances attendant were part and parcel of the defense because as the trial proceeded it was apparent that appellant wanted the jury to believe that he had done all of these things as a manifestation of a severely depressed mental state brought on by physical injury and financial distress. Appellant skillfully cross examined every single witness to good advantage in an attempt to convince the jury that it should forgive this poor defendant and not recommend the death penalty because of this terrible pattern of selfdestruction brought on by his alleged misfortunes. Appellant needed all of this testimony of which he now complains to fashion a defense against imposition of the death penalty because he well knew that the physical evidence coupled with the eye-witness and participatory evidence given by Sharon Cooper gave him little chance of prevailing against the charges of murder, kidnapping and robbery. Appellant's were crocodile tears at trial and he has failed to demonstrate that testimony relating to the bank robbery and a boat theft had any prejudicial effect on the jury when it found him guilt of first degree murder, kidnapping and robbery and recommended, by majority vote, that the death penalty be imposed. What appellant feared was that testimony relating to the bank robbery and the boat theft would have given the jury the complete picture of appellant's relevant activities and not that the jury would receive some extraneous collateral matter that would indirectly prejudice the jury in deliberating as to whether

Anthony Bryan killed George Wilson and if he did so was it done in a manner that would lawfully justify imposition of the ultimate penalty.

Appellant took the stand in his own defense and although he did experience convenient lapses of memory whenever the prosecutor closed in-when his own testimony began to wear thin, his story differed from that of Sharon Cooper on at least one critical point. The way Bryan told it was that George Wilson had become indebted to Sharon Cooper as a result of her services to him as a prostitute and that he proposed to repay her through a dope deal that he was to set up in Florida. According to Bryan the trio traveled to Crestview, Florida and that while he was at the motel Sharon Cooper left with Wilson. Later she reported to him that something bad had happened to George, i.e., the dope deal had gone sour. Appellant denied any knowledge as to the circumstances of Wilson's death. He asked the jury to believe that a sixty five-year-old night watchman of Pascagoula, Mississippi would be engaging in dope deals in Florida. (T 621, The jury also knew that Doctor Ogburn, the court-appointed psychiatrist had testified that appellant had told him during an interview that he knew nothing about any murder and did not know George Wilson. (T 736) Between the time of the interview with Dr. Ogburn and appellant's trial testimony his memory had shown a remarkable recovery except as to certain points that came up during his testimony where he denied any recall.

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